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§530 Criminally Forfeitable Property, Generally



1st Circuit finds that where defendant controlled accounts that were involved in money laundering, $243,000 of the funds she controlled were subject to forfeiture even though she had received only $55,000 in her mail fraud scheme. (530) Defendant was involved in a fraud in which she returned large volumes of stolen women’s clothing to retail stores that would then mail her refunds checks totaling $55,000. Soon after the search of her house turned up large inventories of stolen women’s clothing, she began to withdraw a total of over $330,000 from bank accounts into which she had deposited the refund checks.  She deposited the withdrawn funds into accounts jointly held by her parents, and she continued to make substantial withdrawals from the new accounts. Defendant was convicted of numerous counts of making false statements to the USPS, mail fraud, and money laundering, and she was ordered to forfeit $243,000. On appeal she argued that the forfeiture should be limited to the amount of the $55,000 proceeds of her mail fraud scheme. The 1st Circuit disagreed and found that 18 U.S.C. Section 982(a)(1) authorizes the forfeiture of legitimate funds that have been commingled with the proceeds of unlawful activity for the purpose of concealing those proceeds. The 1st Circuit affirmed the criminal forfeiture order against the commingled $243,000. U.S. v. McGauley, 279 F.3d 62 (1st Cir. 2002).

1st Circuit upholds fine designed to fill gap between value of for​feited assets and plea agreement amount. (530) In a plea agreement, defendant agreed to forfeit prop​erty with a total value of $2.8 million. In a sepa​rate agreement, he listed several assets to for​feit, in​cluding some condominiums owned by a cor​poration in which he had a 50 percent interest. The district court imposed a $634,000 fine, making it clear that its ob​jective was to fill the gap between the value of the assets forfeited and $2.8 million plea agreement ceiling. The 1st Circuit affirmed, despite defendant's dispute as to the valua​tion of certain for​feited assets and the gov​ernment's refusal to accept the listed con​dominiums for forfeiture. The court was not legally required to limit its fine to the size of the gap, and thus was not required to mea​sure the gap precisely. The agreement pro​vided that assets would sat​isfy the forfeiture obli​gation only if the assets were without any encum​brances. Defendant's asso​ciate had filed a petition objecting to the forfeiture of the condos, claiming a 50 percent interest in them. The district court could properly con​strue this petition as an encum​brance. U.S. v. Maling, 988 F.2d 242 (1st Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Maling, 988 F.2d 242 (1st Cir. 1993)."
1st Circuit affirms that government is enti​tled to interest on proceeds from sale of forfeited prop​erty. (530) Defen​dant and the government agreed to per​mit certain property to be sold pending defen​dant's RICO trial, and the sale pro​ceeds were placed in an in​terest-bearing escrow account. The jury re​turned a verdict of forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1963(a)(2), and the prin​cipal and accrued in​terest in escrow was forfeited to the government. The 1st Circuit affirmed that the accrued interest was properly subject to forfeiture. Sec​tion 1963(c) pro​vides that title to for​feitable property vests in the United States upon the commission of the act giving rise to forfeiture. Absent an ex​press agree​ment to the contrary, interest earned on the sale proceeds be​longs to the entity entitled to the escrowed prin​cipal. Contrary to defen​dant's assertion, the government did not waive its "relation back" rights. The written agreement au​thorizing the sale disclosed no waiver. U.S. v. Bucuvalas, 970 F.2d 937 (1st Cir. 1992). xe "U.S. v. Bucuvalas, 970 F.2d 937 (1st Cir. 1992). "
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Second Circuit holds 28 U.S.C. §2461(c) is not limited and thus allows for criminal forfeiture of wire and mail fraud proceeds pursuant to the provisions of 18 U.S.C. §981. (530)  Defendant was convicted on 17 counts of mail fraud and two counts of wire fraud. The district court ordered that he criminally forfeit the proceeds of those offenses pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2461(c). That subsection (which was amended in 2006) provided: “If a forfeiture of property is authorized in connection with a violation of an Act of Congress, and any person is charged in an indictment or information with such violation but no specific statutory provision is made for criminal forfeiture upon conviction, the Government may include the forfeiture in the indictment or information....” Relying on the highlighted clause, Defendant noted that a specific statutory provision was made for criminal forfeiture upon conviction for mail and wire fraud (18 U.S.C. §982(a)(2)(A)), and that provision authorizes criminal forfeiture only in connection with mail and wire fraud “affecting a financial institution,” a circumstance the parties agreed was not present there. Defendant thus argued that neither §2461(c) nor §982(a)(2)(A) authorized criminal forfeiture of the proceeds of his mail and wire offenses, and the government thus fell between two stools. However, the Court held that §2461(c) is not so limited. The forfeiture at issue was effected under 18 U.S.C. §981, which authorizes civil forfeiture for mail and wire fraud, and which does not have the special circumstances requirement of §982. U.S. v. Schlesinger, 2008 WL 239058 (2nd Cir. 2008) (January 30, 2008 ).

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Second Circuit holds that government is not entitled to criminal forfeiture of proceeds from uncharged violations regardless of whether they and the charged violations are part of a common scheme. (530) On appeal, the defendant challenged the criminal forfeiture of monies the district court determined to constitute proceeds of violations of 18 U.S.C. §2314 occurring prior to May 24, 2000, on the grounds that the indictment did not allege violations occurring prior to May 2000. The Second Circuit agreed the indictment did not charge him with those violations, and held that where the government has alleged discrete violations of a statute that does not criminalize a scheme, conspiracy, or enterprise, it is not entitled to forfeiture of proceeds from uncharged violations regardless of whether they and the charged violations are part of a common scheme. Count one listed 31 illegal payments starting on May 24, 2000. The government maintained that the indictment did allege misconduct occurring before that date, pointing to a reference to the defendant’s “scheme, between 1997 and 2002,” and to the indictment’s statement that it “repeats and realleges” the prefatory paragraphs in the indictment, some of which address pre-May 2000 conduct. This language, the government claimed, effectively charged an over-arching scheme, commencing around 1997 and continuing until 2002, to transfer unearned retainer fees in interstate commerce. However, count one did not charge any misconduct prior to May 2000, either as part of an ongoing scheme or as discrete acts. While it referred to the existence of a scheme, it did not charge a scheme. This was in sharp contrast to count two, which identified several payments as overt acts in furtherance of an ongoing conspiracy, and specifically limited the conspiracy to dates after July 1, 2000. Also, count one's incorporation of the earlier paragraphs of the indictment could not be read to charge the pre-May 2000 payments as discrete acts. The assertions in the charging paragraphs were insufficient to charge the payments as violations of §2314 because they failed to allege two elements of the offense. Given count one's failure to charge pre-May 2000 conduct, the government was entitled to criminal forfeiture of funds moved in pre-May 2000 transfers only if it had established the requisite nexus between those monies and the post-May 2000 conduct of which the defendant was charged and convicted. However, the court found that the government failed to meet the requisite nexus between the property and the offense pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 32.2(b)(1). The government did not establish (nor could it logically do so) that the funds involved in the pre-May 2000 transfers were “obtained ... as the result” of the later, particular transfers of which the defendant was convicted.
The government argued that other courts have ordered forfeiture of property derived from uncharged and acquitted conduct that is part of the same scheme or enterprise as convicted conduct. The cases the government cited, however, turned on the fact that, unlike in this case, the bases for the forfeiture orders were convictions for schemes, conspiracies, or enterprises. The court thus held that the district court erred in ordering forfeiture of the pre-May 2000 monies. U.S. v. Capoccia, 2007 WL 2712938 (2d Cir. 2007) (September 19, 2007).

7th Circuit finds forfeitable interest in property on date of drug sale despite land contract. (530) In 1982, defendant, as vendor, entered into a contract to sell his property. The final payment was due five years later. Defen​dant remained on the property and leased it back from the buyer, and paid all taxes and insurance. The contract was not recorded. During 1988, defendant sold cocaine from the property to an undercover agent. Defendant and the buyer later purported to transfer title to the property back to defendant. Defendant argued that at the time of the drug sale, he was only a lessee. The 7th Circuit concluded that under Wisconsin law, defendant held a forfeitable ownership interest in the property under 18 U.S.C. §853. The district court properly found that the land contract was not standard, and thus the doctrine of equitable conversion (under which the vendee of property under a land sale contract becomes the equitable owner of the property) did not apply. In addition, defendant acted as if he retained ownership of the property after entering into the contract, obtaining loans from three different banks using the property as collateral, and representing that he alone owned it. U.S. v. Ben-Hur, 20 F.3d 313 (7th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Ben-Hur, 20 F.3d 313 (7th Cir. 1994)."
7th Circuit affirms forfeiture despite reversal of one of de​fendant's drug convictions. (530) Defendant was con​victed by a jury of a drug conspiracy and possession with intent to dis​tribute cocaine, and cash found in his resi​dence was or​dered forfeited. On appeal, the conspir​acy conviction was reversed, but the 7th Circuit affirmed the forfeiture order. Although the cash could not have been the proceeds of the cocaine offense for which he was convicted, the jury was en​titled to believe that the cash was intended to facilitate the commission of the crime. The jury could conclude that de​fendant was in the drug business, and that the cash was an asset of that business. U.S. v. La​mon, 930 F.2d 1183 (7th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. La​mon, 930 F.2d 1183 (7th Cir. 1991)."
Eighth Circuit allows criminal forfeiture of general mail fraud proceeds pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2461(c) although not specifically provided for in 18 U.S.C. §982, and forfeiture of proceeds obtained prior to CAFRA’s effective date does not violate Ex Post Facto Clause because offense continued through 2002. (530) Loren George Jennings, a former member of the Minnesota House of Representatives, was convicted by a jury of mail fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341, and money laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1957, and the court ordered forfeiture of the proceeds from his offenses. On appeal, Jennings contended that the forfeiture statutes only authorize forfeiture of the money laundering proceeds, not the mail fraud proceeds; that even if the forfeiture statutes include the mail fraud proceeds, ex post facto considerations preclude the inclusion of some of the funds ordered forfeited; and that the government's attempt to forfeit substitute assets is barred by the one-year statute of limitations governing forfeiture actions. As for the first argument, the Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act of 2000, at 28 U.S.C. §2461(c), provides that if forfeiture of property is authorized in connection with a violation of an Act of Congress, and any person is charged in an indictment or information with such violation but no specific statutory provision is made for criminal forfeiture upon conviction, the Government may include forfeiture in the indictment or information. Criminal forfeiture of mail fraud proceeds is specifically authorized when special circumstances are present, such as when the mail fraud affects a financial institution. 18 U.S.C. §982(a). Since Jennings' mail fraud did not involve a financial institution, the government sought criminal forfeiture under §2461(c) through the civil forfeiture provision, 18 U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(C), which does not require any special circumstances as a prerequisite to forfeiture for mail fraud crimes. The appeals court allowed it, joining other circuits in holding that §2461(c) allows for criminal forfeiture of the proceeds of general mail fraud. Jennings’ second, ex post facto argument was that most of the $284,398 ordered forfeited by the court involves payments made prior to CAFRA’s effective date of August 23, 2000, and thus could not be forfeited. However, since the superseding indictment alleged that Jennings’ scheme lasted from 1997 through 2002, the Ex Post Facto clause is not violated for such continuing offenses. Finally, the court denied Jennings’ statute-of-limitations argument because the 18 U.S.C. §984(b) one-year statute for actions pursuant to that section, which applies to fungible property in civil forfeiture actions when the government cannot specifically identify the proceeds directly traceable to the offense and instead must resort to substitute assets, applies only to civil forfeiture cases, not in personam criminal forfeitures, as in this case. U.S. v. Jennings, 487 F.3d 564 (8th Cir. 2007) (June 6, 2007).

8th Circuit holds that forfeiture in a money laundering case allows the government to obtain a money judgment representing the value of all property involved in the offense. (530) Defendants were convicted of tax fraud and money laundering in a federal farm program payment scheme in which the government deposited payments into defendant's bank accounts. The district court ordered the defendants to forfeit approximately $5.9 million in the form of a money judgment for the money laundering charge. The 8th Circuit noted that the corpus of a money laundering conspiracy is the funds that the defendant conspired to launder. The 8th Circuit analyzed at length the various deposits made in the money laundering conspiracy, including farm program payments, crop sales proceeds, and crop insurance benefits, and reversed as to the total forfeiture amount consistent with its analysis of those areas. U.S. v. Huber, 404 F.3d 1047 (8th Cir. 2005).

8th Circuit rules defendants jointly liable for forfeiture of proceeds of RICO enterprise. (530) Defendants Simmons and Fisher were convicted of RICO violations in connection with schemes to bribe various Missouri state officials. The district court ordered forfeiture of money paid to Simmons’ lobbying firm by health, transportation, and construction interests, and made both defendants jointly and severally liable for the total amount of the forfeiture. The Eighth Circuit found that codefendants are properly held liable for the proceeds of a RICO enterprise, and that joint liability was appropriate here even though Fisher did not directly receive the money. It was sufficient that the actions of Simmons and other co-defendants were reasonably foreseeable to Fisher. The court noted the provisions of the RICO statute specifying that it is to be construed broadly, and relied on the general principle of conspiracy law that conspirators are responsible for the foreseeable conduct of co-conspirators. U.S. v. Simmons, 154 F.3d 765 (8th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Simmons, 154 F.3d 765 (8th Cir. 1998)."
9th Circuit holds only $4300 directly traceable as drug buy money forfeitable from $43,000 cash hoard. (530) The Ninth Circuit vacated the bulk of a criminal forfeiture against a convicted drug trafficker. Defendant was convicted by a jury of one count of conspiracy to distribute methamphet​amine, three counts of distribution of methamphetamine (one of which was vacated on appeal), one count of possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and criminal forfeiture of $43,070 in cash found in a locker rented by defendant under a false name. Among the bills seized were $4300 in marked buy money from two of the methamphetamine transactions for which defendant was convicted. The locker also contained marijuana packaged for sale. A search of defendant’s house produced a written record of money owed for drug sales. The defendant testified and admitted that at least $10,000 of the money in the locker came from marijuana sales, but claimed the balance came from legitimate employment and sale of a mobile home for a relative. He was unable to produce documents supporting either the receipt of income or the sale of a mobile home. The court of appeals nonetheless found the government had failed to show an adequate nexus between any of the seized cash except the marked buy money and any offense of conviction, including the conspir​acy. Implicit in the court’s ruling was a finding that defendant was not even jointly and severally responsible for forfeiting drug proceeds received by his co-conspirator. Judge Beezer filed a spirited dissent. U.S. v. Garcia-Guizar, 160 F.3d 511 (9th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Garcia-Guizar, 160 F.3d 511 (9th Cir. 1998)."
9th Circuit says jury must decide if mobile home is “goods, wares, or merchandise” protected by 18 U.S.C. §2232. (530) Under 18 U.S.C. §2232(a) it is a crime to destroy any “goods, wares, or merchandise” to prevent their seizure. Defendant was charged with violating this statute by using a shotgun to blow holes in a mobile home that was in the process of being forfeited to the government. The trial court dismissed the indictment under Fed. R. Crim. P. 29, on the ground that a mobile home was not “goods, wares, or merchandise.” The Ninth Circuit reversed, ruling that the characterization of the mobile home was a question of fact that must be submitted to the jury. U.S. v. Heath, 124 F.3d 213 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (published).xe "U.S. v. Heath, 124 F.3d 213 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (published)." 

11th Circuit rejects forfeiture of property obtained before charged acts of racketeering. (530) Defendant was convicted of RICO and Travel Act violations. The Eleventh Circuit rejected the forfeiture of defendant's interest in a casino, because the jury found that the first racketeering act he engaged in occurred after he had already acquired his interest in the property. Property forfeitable in a RICO proceeding is limited to that which the defendant obtains directly or indirectly as a result of the racketeer​ing activity. Property acquired before a defendant commits an act of racketeering cannot be said to have been derived from it. U.S. v. Kramer, 73 F.3d 1067 (11th Cir. 1996).xe "U.S. v. Kramer, 73 F.3d 1067 (11th Cir. 1996)."
11th Circuit holds it error to forfeit drug money with​out reducing total to re​flect for​feited assets pur​chased with the money. (530) Defendant was convicted on charges of sup​plying chemi​cals to drug traffickers. The jury returned a special verdict on a for​feiture count after the government alleged that he had earned six mil​lion dollars as a result of his ac​tivities. Defen​dant al​leged it was plain error for the jury to forfeit the en​tire six mil​lion dol​lars he had earned as well as assets he had pur​chased with the money. The 11th Circuit agreed and re​manded the case so that the six million dollar figure could be reduced by the value of as​sets he had pur​chased with the money, which were also for​feited. Plain error occurred be​cause there was no evi​dence to support a forfeiture in excess of six million dol​lars. U.S. v. Acosta, 881 F.2d 1039 (11th Cir. 1989).

D.C. Circuit holds that the government may seek criminal forfeiture money judgments and forfeiture based on mail and wire fraud violations. (530) (550) After a jury found the defendant guilty of substantive charges and he waived his right to have a jury determine forfeiture, the government decided that, in lieu of seeking specific property from appellant, it would pursue a $1.5 million money judgment. The defendant did not challenge the amount of money the government sought to recover, but contested the government's ability to claim forfeiture on the mail and wire fraud counts and the government's request for a money judgment in the amount of the forfeited property. The district court held that forfeiture was appropriate on the embezzlement charges, but that criminal forfeiture was unavailable on the mail and wire fraud counts. The appellate court noted that during the time period encompassing the defendant's trial and sentencing, 28 U.S.C. ( 2461( provided that if no specific statutory provision is made for criminal forfeiture upon conviction, the court shall order forfeiture in accordance with the procedures in 21 U.S.C. (853. (2461(c) was since amended so that its application to general mail and wire fraud charges can no longer be disputed. However, the newly amended statute was not in effect when the defendant was sentenced. The government argued that (2461(c) required the Court to order criminal forfeiture where a civil forfeiture is authorized, and 18 U.S.C. (981(a)(1)(c) supplied the necessary authorization. (981(a)(1)(c) subjects property to civil forfeiture if it is obtained in violation of various listed statutes or if it is obtained as a result of any offense constituting (specified unlawful activity( (as defined in 18 U.S.C. (1956(c)(7)), and (1956(c)(7)(A) defines (specified unlawful activity( as including any act or activity constituting an offense listed in 18 U.S.C. (1961(1). Finally (1961(1)(B) -part of the (RICO( statute - defines (racketeering activity( to include the mail and wire fraud statutes. The appellate court agreed, finding that criminal forfeiture is available for general mail and wire fraud violations, not merely those affecting financial institutions. (2461(c)(s plain language permits criminal forfeiture for general mail fraud because 1) (981(a)(1)(c) authorizes civil forfeiture for general mail fraud; and 2) no statutory provision specifically authorizes criminal forfeiture for general mail fraud. The court further held that nothing in the relevant statutes suggests that money judgments are forbidden, but that the open-ended nature of an order forfeiting proceeds of an offense is implicit in both the mandatory nature of forfeiture and in the procedures Congress created for locating forfeitable property and for satisfying the forfeiture judgment with substitute assets. U.S. v. Day, 524 F.3d 1361 (D.C. Circuit 2008) (May 9, 2008).

Delaware district court orders criminal forfeiture of $292,000 as money judgment, basing its decision in part on the defendant’s storage of 10 kilos of cocaine worth $25,000 per kilo. (530) The defendant was found guilty on six counts, and not guilty on ten counts, of an indictment charging him with various drug trafficking and money laundering offenses. The government then sought forfeiture through both a personal money judgment and the defendant's residence as substitute assets to partially satisfy any judgment. Based on trial evidence establishing the defendant’s storage of ten kilograms of cocaine, and the testimony of a special agent that the average price of a kilogram of cocaine was $25,000, the court found that the defendant acquired $250,000 in gross proceeds or facilitating property, in addition to other cash, and thus ordered a forfeiture judgment in the amount of $292,000. U.S. v. Huggins, 376 F.Supp.2d 580 (D.Del. July 8, 2005).

Pennsylvania district court holds that CAFRA clearly intended to expand opportunities for use of criminal forfeiture, making it available to prosecutors whenever civil forfeiture is allowed. (530) A Grand Jury indicted the defendant husband and wife with twenty-six counts of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1343, eight counts of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341, and ninety-five counts of laundering monetary instruments over $10,000 in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1957. The allegations reflected a fraudulent scheme to receive and misappropriate approximately $13 million in federal Pell Grants awarded to students at CSC Institute, a private vocational school owned by the defendants. The indictment also included two separate notices of forfeiture, one of which was based on the mail and wire fraud counts, and included $13 million in proceeds, funds and securities in an account, and 23 pieces of real estate. The defendants argued that there is a lack of statutory authority for criminal forfeiture in connection with the mail and wire fraud counts, as it is only available in such cases when “affecting a financial institution,” and that the government cannot use 28 U.S.C. §2461(c) of CAFRA, which permits the inclusion of forfeiture in the indictment for violation of any act of Congress where “no specific statutory provision is made for criminal forfeiture upon conviction.” Defendants also contended that the account and 23 properties are substitute assets and therefore not subject to pretrial restraint. The court held that in addition to the greater procedural protections provided to citizens subject to civil forfeiture, §2461(c) of CAFRA also clearly intended to expand opportunities for use of criminal forfeiture, making it available to prosecutors whenever civil forfeiture is allowed. Thus, the specific forfeiture statute for wire and mail fraud (18 U.S.C. 981(a) (1)(C)) cross references 18 U.S.C. §1956(c)(7), and 18 U.S.C. §1961(1) (RICO), making clear that property obtained by mail or wire fraud is subject to civil forfeiture. The question remained whether Congress intended to permit criminal forfeiture against Defendants when there is no allegation that charges the mail or wire fraud affected a financial institution, because 18 U.S.C. §982(a)(2)(A) provides for criminal forfeiture in specific instances of mail and wire fraud, i.e., those affecting financial institutions, and thus, the defendants contended, the plain meaning of §2461(c) prevents the inclusion of criminal forfeiture in all other mail and wire fraud cases. The court held, however, that the plain language of §2461(c) was reasonably clear that it applies when a substantive provision is made for civil forfeiture, but no specific statutory provision exists for criminal forfeiture. Thus, it has no application to mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution because a statutory provision for criminal forfeiture already exists. As to Defendants’ contention that a lis pendens serves as a practical restraint on property, the court held that it is generally accepted that a lis pendens does not amount to a seizure of property. Although for all practical purposes it would be virtually impossible to sell or mortgage the property because the interest of a purchaser or mortgagee would be subject to the eventual outcome of the lawsuit, the right to alienate the property still exists. Thus, in the context of forfeiture a lis pendens simply does not rise to the level of restraint or seizure as set forth in 21 U.S.C. §853(e). U.S. v. Lebed, 2005 WL 2495843 (E.D. Pa.)(Oct 7, 2005).

